STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN RULING THAT THE APPELLANT HAD NOT MET HER BURDEN OF PROOF IN PROVING THAT A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES ADVERSELY AFFECTING THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE MINOR CHILDREN HAD OCCURRED SINCE THE ENTRY OF FINAL JUDGMENT OF DIVORCE ON SEPTEMBER 20, 2004, AND THAT SUCH RULING IS AN ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION.
- II. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED WHEN SHE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE MANDATE OF **ALBRIGHT** AND ERRED IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE **ALBRIGHT** FACTORS IN FINDING THAT IT WOULD BE IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE TWO MINOR CHILDREN, JONATHAN AND SUSAN, FOR THEM TO REMAIN IN THE PRIMARY PHYSICAL CUSTODY AND CARE OF THE FATHER.
- III. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN NOT MAKING SPECIFIC FINDING AS TO WHY JONATHAN'S PREFERENCE TO LIVE WITH HIS MOTHER WAS NOT IN JONATHAN'S BEST INTERESTS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Cynthia Bell Gray asks this Court to reverse the November 21, 2005, Final Decree of the Chancery Court of the Ninth Judicial District of Washington County, Mississippi, Honorable Jane R. Weathersby denying the Petition by, Cynthia Bell Gray, (hereinafter "Cindy") to modify custody of the parties' minor children, Jonathan Tyler Gray, (hereinafter "Jonathan") age 13, born February 19, 1992, and Susan Rebecca Gray, (hereinafter "Susan"), age 7 born October 13, 1998, from that of the Appellee, Glenn Van Gray, (hereinafter "Glenn") to Cindy.

Cindy and Glenn are the biological parents of the two minor children, Jonathan and Susan. On September 20, 2004, a Final Judgment of Divorce was entered awarding primary physical custody of the minor children to Glenn. Cindy brought the instant action in the Chancery Court of Washington County, Mississippi to modify that custody of the two minor children. The Chancery Court conducted a hearing in Indianola. Mississippi on October 26,2006 and on November 21, 2006, entered its Order denying Cindy's Petition to Modify Custody. It is that Order that is the subject of this Appeal. Cindy contends that this Order was incorrect and should be reversed as the centerpiece of the instant case is the two minor children, Jonathan and Susan's best interest.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is the kind of case that leaves people scratching their heads about the rationality and fairness of the American litigation system. This astonishing judgment is the product of numerous errors by the trial court. If allowed to stand, the judgment completely ignores what is in the best interest and welfare of two innocent minor children, Jonathan and Susan.

- I. The Chancellor erred in finding that a material change in circumstances that adversely affected the children had not been met. The uncontradicted evidence by the two minor children, Jonathan and Susan, demonstrated that the environment provided by the custodial parent, Glenn, is adverse to the children's best interest and welfare. Additionally, uncontradicted evidence was provided at trial showing that Cindy has changed positively and that she can provide a more suitable home for the minor children.
- II. The Chancellor erred in her application of the *Albright* factors in finding that it would be in the best interest of the two minor children for them to remain in the physical custody and care of the father, Glenn.

The proof at trial clearly showed that Glenn routinely fails to supervise the children that he repeatedly interferes with Cindy's relationship with the children that

he is **NOT** employed, that Jonathan and Susan have been adversely affected by Glenn's increasingly controlling behavior, that Susan is without a shadow of doubt being adversely affected by Glenn in that the uncontradicted evidence revealed that not only has she seen her father "naked" on numerous occasions but that she sleeps in the same bed with him every night; that the relocation by Glenn to Springdale, Arkansas was not in good faith and was not in the best interest of the children; that the Chancellor did not consider the extent of the children's involvement with Cindy and the children's maternal grandparents and did not take into account the genuine desire of Jonathan, 12 years of age, to live with his mother.

The Chancellor failed to acknowledge and recognize that Cindy is in school at Mississippi Delta Community College making passing grades; that Cindy has a 3-bedroom apartment where each child has his/her own bedroom and that her apartment is within walking distance of the children's school where the children would attend if still in Mississippi and that the children's lifelong friends and family reside in Greenville, and more importantly that Cindy can provide the physical care, emotional support, discipline and guidance of the children without constant screaming and hollering at the children. The Chancellor failed to review each of the Albright factors along with the evidence and testimony presented at trial.

III. The Chancellor failed to follow Jonathan's preference to live with his mother and she failed to make specific findings explaining her refusal to honor Jonathan's

genuine desire to live with his mother after hearing compelling reasons to support his request to live with his mother.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

It is well settled that the totality of circumstances should be considered when considering whether a material change adversely affecting the children has occurred. The polestar consideration and most basic principle of custody modification is the law of what is in the best interest and welfare of the child. The court accomplishes this thru the analysis of the *Albright* factors. *Strugis v. Strugis*, 792 So.2d 1020, 1025. (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)(modification reversal by Chancellor's failure to address each factor). *Brocato v. Brocato*, 731 So.2d 1138,1141 (¶ 9)(Miss.1999)(Quoting *Smith v. Jones*, 654 So.2d 480,486 (Miss. 1995)). When determining the above, a court should look at "the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* (Quoting *Ash v. Ash*, 632 So.2d 1264,1266 (Miss. 1993))). *Crider v. Crider*, 904 So.2d 143,144 (¶ 6)(Miss.2005)(Quoting *Riley v. Doerner*, 677 So.2d 740,744 (Miss. 1996.))

The undisputed evidence showed that the living environment of Glenn is detrimental to the children's best interest. Susan's in camera testimony clearly shows that there has disturbingly been a material change in circumstances adversely affecting her which has occurred since the Final Decree of Divorce on September 20, 2004. Little Susan, a precious 7-year-old girl testified that she sleeps with Glenn every night; that his bed is the only bed she sleeps in, and that she didn't like it very much. TR 137:25-27; 138:1012; 145:3-6. She further testified not only has she seen

her father naked but also that he gets naked in front of her. TR 138: 18-27. Other evidence through Susan's testimony showed, that she has been left alone by herself in the apartment in Arkansas and that she has been left alone in the apartment with an 8-year-old boy. TR 139:5-13; TR 146:9-19. Susan additionally testified that Glenn interferes with her talking to Cindy; that he yells at her a lot and that she has more friends in Mississippi. TR141:3-7; 17-19; TR 143:12-13.

Jonathan's in camera testimony was also appalling. Here we have a 12-year-old boy testifying that his father calls Cindy" a horrible mother, a crack head, a slut and a lot of nasty things." TR 152:10-14. He further testified that Glenn leaves him alone for three or four hours. TR152:20-25. In addition thru Jonathan's testimony we learn that Glenn yells at him and shows him court papers TR 153:3-7. It is evident that Glenn yells at Jonathan constantly as we heard on cross examination that Glenn even yelled at Jonathan on the trip from Arkansas for the court appearance in October. TR160: 9-13. Not only does Glenn interfere with his talking to Cindy but also that Glenn listens to Jonathan's calls with Cindy. TR 154:26-29; 155:1-3; 165:22-29.

Moreover, Jonathan testified that Susan sleeps with Glenn, that she always sleeps with Glenn. TR 154:4-7. Jonathan has his own bedroom and bed but when it comes to little Susan she sleeps with her father and that she doesn't like it very much. Jonathan's testimony combined with Susan's is indeed alarming and sends red flags that the current environment provided by Glenn for the children is without a doubt detrimental. Nancy Bell in her testimony confirmed that Jonathan has his

own room while Susan sleeps with her Dad. TR8:14-21.

Glenn's testimony was interesting to say the least. Not only did he admit that Susan sleeps with him but also that she has seen him **naked on numerous occasions** and this did not seem to concern him as he discounted his disturbing behavior by merely stating that "kids are very inquisitive." TR 43:1-4; 11-20. In addition Glenn admitted that he has called Cindy a sorry excuse for a mother on more than one occasion. TR 47:20-23. Glenn also testified that he was not employed. TR42:4-5. TR9:28-29; 10:1. Glenn admitted on direct examination that he had not looked into moving to any other location other than Springdale, Arkansas. TR113:9-20.

The most revealing testimony about Glenn's move came from Glenn on cross examination when he said, "quit trying to make my life miserable here. He's got my business. He's got my home. Leave me alone or I am going to have to move." TR 52:7-9. "He got my business." TR 52:19-21. Glenn obviously blames Randy Bell for all of his misfortunes and in an effort to get back at Randy he chose to move the children to Springdale, Arkansas. This testimony clearly shows that his move to Arkansas was not made in good faith.

Patsy Gray, Glenn's mother testified that there is a day bed at Glenn's apartment in Arkansas, which is very interestingly, as no one else offered any testimony that one exists. However, her testimony served to confirm the testimony of Susan, Jonathan and Glenn that Susan sleeps with her father. TR 115:11-14.

Randy Bell, Cindy's father and someone who has been close to Jonathan and Susan since their birth testified about the noticeable changes in Jonathan since the divorce. He has observed that Jonathan is more withdrawn and that both of the children, Jonathan and Susan appeared to be scared a lot to say things. TR21:5-10. Randy also testified about the positive changes in Cindy and perhaps more importantly his willingness to provide her with the financial support so that Cindy could go to school because Cindy would then be able to get a good job and maintain herself and the children. TR22:7-15; 16-23.

This line of testimony was confirmed by Nancy Bell. Nancy affirmed that she wasn't aware of any reason why Cindy couldn't care for the children and she was also willing to provide support to Cindy. TR 9:28-29; 10:1; 14:29; 15:1-2. Randy additionally testified that he did not know of any reason why Cindy was not able to take care of the children while he felt that Glenn was not able to do so. His reasons were first that of Glenn not being employed and Glenn's "basic teachings." TR 25:24-29; 26:1; 4-15.

Cindy's testimony supported that of Randy's with regards to the changes in Jonathan since the divorce. Cindy has seen a direct quietness in Jonathan that was not present before the divorce. TR 62:25-29; 63:1-3. Through her testimony we learned that Glenn does not consult with her regarding the children's schooling; that she does not receive progress reports and that he doesn't even let her know when he takes the children to the doctor. TR 72:2-7; 22-29. At Cindy's three bedroom apartment the children have their own rooms. TR 56:18-23. Schooling in Greenville

for the children would not pose a problem. TR64:27-29; 65:1-5.

The evidence at trial did establish the required elements that a substantial change in circumstances has transpired since issuance of the Final Decree of Divorce on September 20, 2004, and that this change adversely affects the children's welfare and that the children's best interest mandates a change in custody. *Bubac v. Boston*, 600 So.2d 951, 955 (Miss. 1992).

Further, the evidence at trial showed that under a totality of circumstances that there has been a change in circumstances, *Spain v. Holland*, 483 So.2d 318,320 (Miss. 1986). In addition, under a totality of circumstances analysis the proof at trial demonstrates that the living conditions in the home of Glenn are unhealthy; that a definite material change has occurred in the living conditions at Glenn's while at Cindy's home the environment offers a better option for the children that did not exist at the time the original custody determination was made, and that the Chancellor committed manifest error when she failed to make such a determination.

Accordingly, in this case, the undisputed facts demonstrate that, a material change in circumstances exist that warrant a change in the custody of the minor children, Jonathan and Susan to Cindy.

The Chancellor erred in its application of the *Albright* factors in finding that it would be in the best interest of the two minor children for them to remain in the physical custody and care of the father, Glenn. The proof at trial clearly showed that

Glenn routinely fails to supervise the children that he repeatedly interferes with Cindy's relationship with the children that he is **NOT** employed, that Jonathan and Susan have been adversely affected by Glenn's increasingly controlling behavior, that Susan is without a shadow of doubt being adversely affected by Glenn in that the uncontradicted evidence revealed that not only has she seen her father "naked" on numerous occasions but that she sleeps in the same bed with him every night; that the relocation by Glenn to Springdale, Arkansas was not in good faith and was not in the best interest of the children.

The Chancellor did not consider the extent of the children's involvement with Cindy and the children's maternal grandparents and did not take into account the genuine desire of Jonathan, 12 years of age, to live with his mother. The Chancellor failed to acknowledge and recognize that Cindy is in school at Mississippi Delta Community College making passing grades; that Cindy has a 3-bedroom apartment where each child has his/her own bedroom and that her apartment is within walking distance of the children's school where the children would attend if still in Mississippi and that the children's lifelong friends and family reside in Greenville, and more importantly that Cindy can provide the physical care, emotional support, discipline and guidance of the children without constant screaming and hollering at the children.

The Chancellor failed to review each of the *Albright* factors along with the evidence and testimony presented at trial. This Court is obliged to find error if a

chancellor improperly considers and applies the *Albright* factors. *Hollon v. Hollon*, 784 So.2d 943 (¶ 11)(Miss. 2001) *Hollon* additionally states to determine if a Chancellor abused her discretion, this Court is to review each factor along with the evidence and testimony presented at trial pertaining to each factor. *Id* at (¶ 13). Cindy requests this Court to do just that.

MISS. CODE ANN.§ 93-11-65 (Rev. 2004) is the statute that introduced the idea of "child preference" into custody matters. The statute makes provision for the child, 12 and over, to express a preference...and states that the Court may consider the expressed preference of the child. Miss. Code Ann. §93-5-24(1) directs the Court to make all custody determinations in the best interest of the child.

In the lower court, the Chancellor failed to follow Jonathan's preference to live with his mother and she failed to make specific findings explaining her refusal to honor Jonathan's genuine desire to live with his mother after hearing compelling reasons to support his request to live with his mother. *Polk v. Polk*, 589 So.2d 123,130 (Miss.1991). Jonathan's preference to live with Cindy combined with his supportive evidence as outlined above clearly demonstrates that there has indeed been a material change in circumstances that are definitely adverse to his best interests.

Moreover the evidence presented to the Chancellor is plainly sufficient to justify the modification of the custody order from Glenn to Cindy. As such, the Chancellor abused her discretion in not following Jonathan's stated preference.

CONCLUSION

The Chancellor after hearing testimony in this matter incorrectly determined

that a material change of circumstances adversely affecting the best interests of the

minor children had not occurred since the entry of Final Judgment of Divorce. The

Chancellor failed to comply with the mandate of Albright and she incorrectly applied

the Albright factors in finding that it would be in the best interest and welfare of the

two minor children for them to remain in the primary custody and care of the father.

Additionally, the Chancellor did not make specific findings as to why

Jonathan's preference to live with his mother was not in his best interest. Evidence

has been presented to show that the Chancellor abused her discretion and made

manifest errors. This case should be reversed and primary custody of the minor

children should be transferred to Cindy Gray.