SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2006-CA-00251

CYNTHIA BELL GRAY

APPELLANT

VS.

GLENN VAN GRAY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court, and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals, may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

(1) Cynthia Bell Gray Greenville, MS Appellant

(2) Glenn Van Gray 1947 Olympic Loop, Apt 204 Springdale, AR 72762

Appellee

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANT HAD NOT MET HER BURDEN OF PROOF OF A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH ADVERSELY THE MINOR CHILDREN HEREIN.
- II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN APPLYING THE <u>ALBRIGHT</u> FACTORS IN FINDING THAT IT WOULD BE IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE MINOR CHILDREN TO REMAIN IN THE PHYSICAL CUSTODY OF APPELLEE, GLENN VAN GRAY.
- III. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN NOT MAKING SPECIFIC FINDINGS AS

 TO REASONS WHY JONATHAN'S PREFERENCE TO LIVE WITH APPELLANT WAS

 NOT IN HIS BEST INTEREST.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 20, 2004, the Chancery Court of Washington County, Mississippi entered a Final Judgment of Divorce between the parties hereto on the ground of irreconcilable differences. Said Judgment awarded joint legal custody of the two minor children of the parties, namely: Jonathan Tyler Gray, a son, born February 19, 1992; and Susan Rebecca Gray, a daughter, born October 13, 1998. Appellee, Glenn Van Gray was awarded primary physical custody of said children, with visitation granted to Appellant, Cynthia Bell Gray pursuant to the court's standard visitation schedule. (Record, pages 16-24)

On August 5, 2005, Appellant filed her Petition To Modify Final Judgment and for other relief, alleging therein a material change of circumstances which adversely affect the children. (Record, pages 8-15) Upon a trial on said Petition held before Chancellor Jane Weathersby in Sunflower County, Mississippi, a Final Decree was entered on November 21, 2005 denying relief on said Petition. (Record, pages 29-32) In rendering its decision, the Court made a finding that Appellant had failed to meet her burden of proof that a material change of circumstances had occurred which adversely affected the children. In particular, the Court ruled that Appellee's relocation from Washington County to Arkansas was for the purpose of creating a better life for himself and the minor children; that due to Appellant's physical and mental condition and her current circumstances, she was unable to provide care for the children; and that although the minor child, Jonathan Gray, who was age 12, had expressed a preference to live with Appellant, it was not in the best interest of said child to award custody to Appellant, considering her circumstances and the totality of circumstances of the parties. (Tr. Vol. II. Pages 179-180)

Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal to this Court seeking review herein.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A Chancellor's findings regarding child custody will not be disturbed when supported by substantial evidence unless the Chancellor abused her discretion, was manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous or applied an erroneous legal standard. In an action for modification of custody, there must be proof of a material change of circumstances which is adverse or detrimental to the minor children. Relocation of a custodial parent does not necessarily result in a material change of circumstances sufficient to warrant a modification of custody; nor would a change in the circumstances of the non-custodial parent, in and of itself, justify such a modification.

The Chancellor may consider the preference expressed by a child of 12 years of age or older as to the parent with whom he or she would prefer to live. However, such preference is but one factor to be considered in determining the best interest of the children, the polestar consideration in all child custody cases.

The Chancellor's ruling in the case below was supported by substantial evidence in the record and applied the correct the legal standard for custody modification, i.e., proof of a material change of circumstances which has adverse effects or is detrimental to the best interest of the children. In considering the totality of circumstances of the parties herein, the Chancellor's denial of the Appellant's petition for modification of custody was not erroneous and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANT HAD NOT MET HER BURDEN OF PROOF OF A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH ADVERSELY AFFECT THE CHILDREN

This Court has held that in order to merit a modification of custody, "Normally, it must be shown that a material change of circumstances in the child's custodial home has a present adverse effect on the child or is detrimental to the child." Savell v. Morrison, 929 So.2d 414,418 (Miss. App. Ct. 2006). The Mississippi Supreme Court has further held that "While numerous factors may go into the initial consideration of a custody award, see e.g., Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983), only parental behavior that poses a clear danger to the child's mental or emotional health can justify a custody change. Morrow v. Morrow, 591 So.2d 829, 833 (Miss. 1991)

In the instant case, Appellant alleges that Appellee's relocation from Washington County to the State of Arkansas constitutes a material change of circumstances warranting a change in custody. The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly held that relocation of a parent does not necessarily result in a material change in circumstances for modification of custody.

Lackey v. Fuller, 755 So.2d 1083, 1088 (Miss. 2000); Spain v. Holland, 483 So.2d 318, 321 (Miss. 1986) (move to England does not require change in custody); Pearson v. Pearson, 458 So.2d 711, 713 (Miss. 1984) (Move to Hawaii not per se basis for interfering in custody); Brocato v. Walker, 220 So.2d 340, 344 (Miss. 1969) (600 mile move to San Antonio, Texas not a material in circumstances). In Spain v. Holland, supra, 483 So.2d at 321, the Court concluded:

"We close our eyes to the real world if we ignore that ours is a mobile society. Opportunity and economic necessity transport perfectly responsible adults many miles from their homes."

In <u>Brocato v. Walker</u>, supra, 220 So.2d at 344, the Court held that while the removal of the child

to Texas made visitation with her father more difficult, the child's welfare prevailed over the husband's inconvenience in visiting her. The record herein reflects that Appellee Gray moved to Arkansas primarily for economic reasons, i.e., he was a part of a business venture (a pro golf shop). (Tr. I, pp. 117, 120). He had also been subjected to ongoing harassment by Appellant's father and their marital home had been sold through foreclosure to her father. (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 41, 117). However, he still made provisions for the children to visit with Appellant. (Tr. Vol. I, page 118).

Appellant further alleges a material change of circumstances in the living conditions of the children in Appellee's home in Arkansas. Appellant's mother, Nancy Bell, who testified that she had visited Mr. Gray's apartment about seven or eight times, stated that the home was clean, the children appeared to be well-fed and clothed properly. She further testified that Mr. Gray is a good father to the children. (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 11-13). One of the children, Jonathan, testified that Mr. Gray was a "clean freak". (Tr. Vol. II, p. 164). Although the minor child, Susan, usually slept in Mr. Gray's bed rather than her daybed, this was not unusual, because she would also sleep in her mother's bed when she visited with her. (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 42, 79). Mr. Gray did acknowledge that Susan had walked into the bathroom while he was in shower or dressing in his bedroom and she had seen him without clothes on. (Tr. Vol. I, p.42). He also acknowledged that on some occasions, he had left the children in the apartment briefly to go to the store or run an errand, but Jonathan had a cell phone, and he made arrangements with a neighbor when necessary to watch them for a short period. (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 47, 123). Of course, Appellant also acknowledged that she had left the children alone in her apartment occasionally to go to the

gas station. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 81).

None of the conditions cited above by Appellant were shown to have an adverse effect on the minor children and certainly do not rise to the level of a material change of circumstances which would justify a modification of custody. <u>Morrow v. Morrow</u>, supra, 591 So.2d 829,833.

Appellant further contended that her own circumstances have become better since the Final Judgment was entered awarding primary physical custody of the children to Appellee. However, her testimony shows that she is unemployed and totally depends on her parents for support, including the payment of rent, utilities, food and other expenses. She has never applied for employment since the Judgment was entered because she was "depressed" (Tr. Vol. I, pages 84-85). The minor child, Jonathan, testified that Appellant's apartment is "messy a lot of times from clothes. She has a lot of clothes." (Tr. Vol. II, p. 164). The Chancellor, in her ruling, found "It appears from the testimony that Mrs. Gray's housekeeping habits have not changed since the last time that we were in court." (Tr. Vol. II, p. 180). The Chancellor further found that it does not appear that Mrs. Gray can care for the children because she's not caring for herself. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 180).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has made clear that a change of circumstances in the non-custodial parent is not in and of itself sufficient to warrant a modification of custody.

Riley v. Doerner, 677 So.2d 740, 744 (Miss. 1996); Duran v. Weaver, 495 So.2d 1355, 1357 (Miss. 1986). Appellant herein has not shown materials circumstances that she is able to provide an environment more suitable than Appellee for the minor children justifying a modification of custody. Even assuming such circumstances were shown, that alone is not sufficient to merit a modification of custody in the court's determination of the best interest of the children taking into consideration the totality of circumstances. Albright v. Albright, supra.

WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN APPLYING THE ALBRIGHT FACTORS IN FINDING THAT IT WOULD BE IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE MINOR CHILDREN TO REMAIN IN THE PHYSICAL CUSTODY OF APPELLEE

In proceedings concerning custody of children, the paramount consideration is the best interest of the children. Moreover, a chancellor's ruling regarding custody will generally not be reversed on appeal unless the findings and decision are not supported by substantial evidence.

Passmore v. Passmore, 820 So.2d 747, 749 (Miss. App. 2002); Touchstone v. Touchstone, 682 So.2d 374 (Miss. 1996).

There is no dispute herein that the Chancellor applied the <u>Albright v. Albright</u>, supra, factors in the initial determination of custody between the parties as contained in the Final Judgment of Divorce. (Record, pp. 16-24). The issue on Appellant's Petition For Mofification of Custody is proof of a material change of circumstances which adversely affect the children. In its ruling on said Petition, the Court made the following findings (at Tr. Vol. II, pp. 180-81):

- (1) That Glenn Gray relocated to better his life and the lives of the children;
- (2) That Mr. Gray is a better disciplinarian than Mrs. Gray in terms of parenting skills;
- (3) That the only change Mrs Gray has made since the divorce is that she has moved from under her parents roof into an apartment which is paid for by her parents. ... She cannot care for these children because she is not caring for herself;
- (4) That Mr. Gray has an adequate home environment and is a good housekeeper; Mrs. Gray's (bad) housekeeping habits have not changed since the last time the parties were in court;
- (5) That Mrs. Gray has not even attempted to find employment since the divorce;

- (6) That Mrs. Gray's mental and physical condition are of concern, and she appeared to be under the influence of some medication on the stand which she did admit;
- (7) That the preference expressed by Jonathan to live with Mrs. Gray would not be in his best interest, considering the circumstances of the parties.

Based upon the standard of proof for modification of custody, and the totality of circumstances of the parties, including the above findings applying the Albright factors, the Chancellor determined that Appellant had not met her burden of proof to show a material change of circumstances that adversely affect the minor children. The court's findings and decision are supported by substantial evidence in the record and should be affirmed.

WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN NOT MAKING SPECIFIC FINDINGS AS TO THE REASONS WHY JONATHAN'S PREFERENCE TO LIVE WITH APPELLANT WAS NOT IN HIS BEST INTEREST.

Under the Albright factors and Miss. Code Ann. Section 93-11-65, a child who is 12 years of age or older may express a preference as to where he or she wants to live. However, said preference is only one factor to be considered by the court in determining the best interest of the child. In the instant case, the Chancellor did consider the preference expressed by the minor child, Jonathan, that he preferred to live with Appellant. The court went on to discuss the conditions and circumstances of the parties applying the Albright factors and made a finding that it was in the best interest of the children to remain in the custody of Mr. Gray. These findings set forth sufficient reasons for refusing to award custody based upon Jonathan's preference. (Tr. Vol. II, pp. 180-81)

The Mississippi courts have long recognized that it is not in the best interest of children to be separated from other siblings, and that children of a family should be kept together.

Sparkman v. Sparkman, 441 So.2d 1361 (Miss. 1983); Sellers v. Sellers, 638 So.2d 481

(Miss. 1994); Mixon v. Bullard, 227 So.2d 28 (Miss. 1968). To the extent that the Court

Considers the preference of one child to live with a parent, the above principle should also be

considered in awarding or modifying custody. However, the paramount consideration remains

the best interest of the children taking into account the totality of circumstances.

Touchstone v. Touchstone, supra, 682 So.2d at 377

CONCLUSION

The Chancellor's findings and decision denying Appellant's Petition to modify custody

are supported by substantial evidence in the record. The Court applied the proper legal standard

and burdens of proof for child custody modification and applied the Albright factors, including

consideration of the preference expressed by Jonathan, in determining that it would be in the

best interest of the children to remain in the custody of Appellee, Glenn Van Gray. That decision

should not be disturbed and the Chancellor's findings accorded due weight and affirmed.